Composer ME User Guide

Control4 OS 2.10





Legal notices

Control4 Disclaimer

Control4" makes no representations or warranties with respect to this publication, and specifically disclaims any express or implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for any particular purpose. Control4 reserves the right to make changes to any and all parts of this publication at any time, without any obligation to notify any person or entity of such changes.

Legal Notice

GNU

GNU GENERAL PUBLIC LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR COPYING, DISTRIBUTION AND MODIFICATION (Section 3.b.)

You may copy and distribute the Program (or a work based on it, under Section 2) in object code or executable form under the terms of Sections 1 and 2 above provided that you also do one of the following:

Accompany it with a written offer, valid for at least three years, to give any third party, for a charge no more than your cost of physically performing source distribution, a complete machine-readable copy of the corresponding source code, to be distributed under the terms of Sections 1 and 2 on a medium customarily used for software interchange.

The complete text for this license is available on the Control4 web site at: www.control4.com.

Gracenote

Gracenote^{*}, Gracenote logo and logotype, and the "Powered by Gracenote" logo are either a registered trademark or a trademark of Gracenote, Inc. in the United States and/or other countries.

Music and DVD recognition technology and related data are provided by Gracenote".

Gracenote is the industry standard in Music and DVD recognition technology and related content delivery. For more information, visit www.gracenote.com.

MPEG

Fraunhofer IIS and Thomson. MPEG Layer-3 audio coding technology licensed from Fraunhofer IIS and Thomson. Supply of this product does not convey a license nor imply any right to distribute content created with this product in revenue-generating broadcast systems (terrestrial, satellite, cable, and /or other distribution channels), streaming applications (via Internet, intranets, and/or other networks), other content distribution systems (pay-audio or audio-on-demand applications, and the like) or on physical media (compact discs, digital versatile discs, semiconductor chips, hard drives, memory cards, and the like). An independent license for such use is required. For details, visit mp3licensing.com. Radio Locator is the service provider of AM/FM channel list.

Spread

This product uses software developed by Spread Concepts LLC for use in the Spread toolkit. For more information about Spread see *www.spread.org*.

Copyright and Trademarks

Copyright ©2017, Control4 Corporation. All rights reserved. Control4, the Control4 logo, the 4-ball logo, 4Sight, Mockupancy, and Control4 My Home are registered trademarks or trademarks of Control4 Corporation in the United States and/or other countries. All other names and brands may be claimed as the property of their respective owners. All specifications subject to change without notice.

No part of this publication may be reproduced, photocopied, stored on a retrieval system, or transmitted without the express written consent of the publisher.

Contact Information

Control4 Corporation 11734 S. Election Road Salt Lake City, UT 84020 USA

www.control4.com

Part Number 200-00171-T Composer Media Edition User Guide (OS 2.10.0, 09/14/2016 DH)

Contents

Legal notices2
Contents
Introduction
Purpose5
Related documents and resources5
Getting started5
Requirements6
Installing Composer ME7
Starting Composer ME7
Menu options9
File
Help
Refreshing the Navigators11
Closing Composer ME11
Using Composer ME to manage your media and playlists12
Media view 12 Media Scanning 12 Stored media 12 Broadcast media 13 Playlists 13

Adding digital media files to your Control4 system	14
Setting up playlists	15
Setting up media on a CD or disc changer	16
Auto-scan media in Composer ME	20
Testing the media connection	21
Setting up broadcast media for TV channels	22
Setting up media for radio stations	23
Adding photos to the Screen Saver	25
Other Composer ME tasks	26
Clearing a media list	
Exporting a media list	27
Importing a media list	27
Updating Composer ME	27
Glossary	29
Index	32

Introduction

You can use Composer Media Edition (Composer ME) to set up and manage your media and playlists in your Control4 system and perform other tasks related to your music, movies, and videos.

- Add media to your Control4 media library, such as digital media files (audio or video files) and discs in a disc changer.
- Scan and automatically label media to make it easier to find.
- Once content is added to the Control4 media library, set up playlists for your music.
- Create "favorite" radio stations, TV channels, and more.
- Add photos for the custom screensaver on your touch screens and on-screen Navigators.

Purpose

The purpose of this document is to give you instructions, examples, and tips about how to add and manage the media for your Control4 system. This document applies to the Control4 Operating System 2.10.0 (OS 2.10.0).

Related documents and resources

Document Title	Location
Control4 System User Guide	PDF: <i>ctrl4.co/userguide</i>
Control4 Composer Home Edition Getting Started	Help: Composer HE application PDF: <i>ctrl4.co/he-gs</i>
Control4 Composer Home Edition User Guide	Help: Composer HE application PDF: <i>ctrl4.co/he-ug</i>
Control4 System Remote Control SR-260 User Guide	PDF: ctrl4.co/sr260-ug

Getting started

Use Composer ME to add media to your Control4 system (such as digital media and discs in a disc changer), scan your media to find the media metadata (such as cover artwork, artist, album name, and track names) edit media information, and create playlists for your Control4 system. This information is stored on the controller in a database called the media library. After you add your media to your Control4 system using Composer ME, you can browse and select your media, channels, stations, or playlists from any of your Control4 Navigators.

A few Control4-related definitions:

Controller—A controller is a computer-like piece of hardware produced by Control4 that runs the Control4 software and enables control of various devices throughout your home; for example, an EA-3 controller.

Director—Director is the software that runs on a Control4 controller and that sends commands to control the various devices in your home automation system.

Composer ME—Composer ME software connects to the Director software running on your controller and lets users manage their media and playlists.

Media Library—A database on your controller that stores media types, media names, and media metadata (such as Artist, album cover art, Genre, and more). The library does not store the actual media files themselves, such as the .mp3 file. Digital media files must be stored in a storage location like a USB drive or network-attached storage drive (NAS drive).

Navigator—A Control4 Navigator is used with the Control4 system to control lights, music, and videos. A Control4 Navigator can be an on-screen menu on a TV, a touch screen, a remote control, or an application running on your computer or mobile device. A Navigator communicates with Director to know how to control the devices in your home.

Composer ME requires a connection to the Control4 controller running Director. The center of the Control4 system is the Control4 controller (for example, EA-3). The controller communicates with Control4 and third-party products to enable home automation and interaction with Control4-controlled devices.

Requirements

Composer ME requires that your Control4 system is functioning correctly before attempting to use this software. Talk to your Control4 dealer if this product does not function as documented; this may indicate that the Control4 system may not be set up properly.

Computer software and hardware

- Microsoft.NET 4 (the Composer install is launched automatically from the Control4 website).
- Windows 10, 8, 7, or Vista
- Mac support when used with a Windows virtual machine such as Parallels or VMWare Fusion for Mac
- 500 MHz or higher processor
- 256 MB RAM
- 90 MB available hard disk space
- Video card and monitor supporting a resolution of 1024x768 or higher
- Keyboard
- Mouse

Home computer network

 Wireless access point (WAP) or wireless router that supports 802.11 b/g/n (optional)

- TCP/IP-based (Ethernet) home network, this usually includes a network gateway, router, or switch
- A broadband Internet connection (During initial setup, a broadband Internet connection is required to update the Control4 system and retrieve media cover art. Also, a broadband Internet connection is required to support remote access to the system.)

Control4 home automation network

- A Control4 controller (for example, an EA-3 controller)
- Control4 Composer Media Edition (Composer ME) software, version 2.10.0
- Registration at *customer.control4.com* is required (see your dealer or the *Control4 System User Guide* for details)

Installing Composer ME

Follow the steps below to install the Composer ME software.

Prerequisites

Ensure that you understand the software and network requirements to use this product. Your dealer or installer can assist you if needed.

To install Composer ME:

- 1 Log in to your account at customer.control4.com and go to Software > Downloads. Click the Download Composer Media Edition button to download the install file.
- 2 Double-click or open the install file to start the install process. You can also choose to download an older version of Composer ME to match your Control4 system OS version.
- **3** Follow the on-screen instructions to finish the installation process.

The Composer ME software download button will default to the latest version. We recommend you download the version of Composer ME software that matches your Control4 system OS version.

Starting Composer ME

When you start Composer ME, you must connect to Director on your home network.

Prerequisites

Ensure that you have installed Composer ME and your Control4 system has been registered to your account at *customer.control4.com*.

To start Composer ME:

- 1 From the desktop, double-click the **Composer ME** icon.
- 2 At the Composer ME startup screen, click Local System.



3 From the *Directors* dialog, select the Director's IP address of the controller you are connecting to.

Name	Address	Version	Connect
ea5-000FFF1B0C1C	192.168.1.3	2.10.0.536490-res	Cancel
			Add
			Remove
			Refresh

Tip: If the Director's IP address does not appear immediately, click **Refresh**. If it still does not appear, contact your dealer.

Directors dialog buttons:

- **Connect**—Connect to the Director on your controller.
- **Cancel**—Cancel and close the Director dialog.
- Add—Launch a dialog that lets you add the IP address of the controller to which you are trying to connect.
- **Remove**—Lets you remove a Director.
- Refresh–Update the Director list to display the recently added Directors.

Media	Media Scanning	
Media	Storage Space Status	
AM STOCK		

4 Click Connect. Composer ME opens to the main Composer ME screen.

Menu options

Composer ME menu options:

- **File menu**—Connect to the Director on your home network, refresh Navigator devices with new media information, or exit Composer ME.
- Media menu—Create a new playlist, or clear, export, and import media lists. See "Media Menu" below.
- Help menu-View the Composer ME online help and software version.

File

The File menu lets you perform project file management tasks, connect to Director, and refresh Composer ME and the Navigators, including touch screens, Control4 apps (if they are online), and on-screen Navigators. The file management options relate to the Composer ME project files you back up on your PC (they have a .c4p extension). Project files always save by default to the 'My Documents' folder.

When you set up a Control4 system, you create live project configuration information on the controller that is backed up to a project file on your PC. This lists specific information about each system, including devices, connections, configuration, programming information, and media.

• **Connect to Director**—Connects you to the Director residing on the controller. When you connect, project configuration information from the controller is displayed on the Composer ME screen.

- **Disconnect from Director**—Disconnects you from the Director. Composer ME prompts you to back up your project before disconnecting you from the currently-connected Director. This option is available when connected to the Director.
- **Refresh**—Refreshes the Composer ME screen with the current information from Director.
- **Refresh Navigators**—Refreshes the Navigators with the latest information from Director. **Note**: Control4 for PCs and tablets must be updated in that app. Control4 for iPhone, iPod touch, iPad, and Android devices will update if online.
- **Exit**—Exits Composer. Composer ME prompts you to back up your project prior to exiting the software and returning to the desktop. Control4 recommends that you always back up your project before you exit.

File	Media Help				
	Connect to Director				
	Disconnect from Director				
Refresh					
	Refresh Navigators	Shift+F5			
	Exit				

Media

Media information added to your Control4 system is stored in a database on the controller. The *Media* menu gives you options to manage that media information in the database. After an item is added to the media database, the cover art and metadata about the media is viewable and selectable from any of the Navigators.

Tip: Control4 recommends that you use the Export Media List feature (see below) which exports a list of all your media saved in the Control4 system to the hard drive on your PC.

From the *Media* menu, the following options are available:

- **Clear Media List**—Clears the media list associated with the highlighted device from the media database.
- **Export Media List**—Exports a media list for the selected device from your controller to your PC.
- Import Media List-Imports a media list from your PC to your controller.
- Export Playlists—Exports a playlist from your controller to your PC.
- Import Playlists—Imports a playlist from your PC to your controller.
- Import DVD List from File—Imports a Microsoft Excel list of DVD titles for a disc changer.
- New Playlist—Creates a playlist of MP3, WMA, MP4, AAC, or FLAC files. The playlist is available from any touch screen or on-screen Navigator. Add albums, remove songs, re-order songs, etc. Note: If you remove songs from a playlist, it does not remove them from the media database.
- **Delete Playlist**—Removes a playlist from the media database.
- **Rename Playlist**—Renames a playlist from the media database.

Help

From the Help menu, you can access the online version of *Composer ME User Guide*, the full customer documentation library, or check the version of your Composer ME software and Director component.

Refreshing the Navigators

Use the Control4 Composer ME menu bar to refresh your touch screens, on-screen Navigators, Control4 apps, and System Remote Controls whenever you make changes to Composer ME.

Prerequisites

• Ensure that the Navigators are added and identified to the Control4 system. Your dealer can help you.

To refresh the Navigators:

1 In case your Navigators do not automatically refresh after you've made changes to Composer ME, from the menu bar, click **File**, and then click **Refresh Navigators**.

Tip: New media shows up automatically in the Navigators unless your device is disconnected or has changed locations. In this case, you may need to identify the device again.

Refer to the Control4 System User Guide to test your Navigator features.

Closing Composer ME

Click **File** > **Exit** to close the application.

Using Composer ME to manage your media and playlists

Media view

The Media view is the primary screen in Composer ME. From this view, you can see the media in your Control4 system, add digital media files, scan digital media files to find the media metadata (such as cover artwork, artist, album name, and track names), manage changes to your media, and manage playlists.

Media view (same view as the main screen after startup):

Media	Media Scanning		^
Media	Storage Space Status		
Heda Instant Sanveg Octors Commit Mass Sanveg RESTORE_224 Grownics Sanver Sources Sanver Part Herrer Rado Roydets	Storage Space Statut Used Space for Media Graphics - 1 / 1000 MB Total Used Space (All Data) - 2053 / 5920 MB NOTE: Exceeding the maximum storage values lated above system updates and project modifications. Options Scanning Schedule © Never © Every 1 © Days © Inthe following days: © Snoty @ Monday © Tuesday @ We		
	Thursday Friday Saturday Ac 03:00 AM (2) Fres To Scan Device: Extensions: Genetic Mass Storage RESTOR(M9/3 (Audo)	Add	
	FL/C (Juda) FL/C (Jud	Remove.	
🕞 Hedia	Update media database if file taps have changed	x191	- 1

There are four main categories listed in the *Media* window (left pane):

- Media Scanning Options
- Stored media
- Broadcast media
- Playlists

Media Scanning

The *Media Scanning* pane lets you view the storage space status for your media information stored in the media database on the controller and configure media scanning options.

Stored media

Stored media refers to media physically or digitally stored in the Control4 system.

Media types supported:

- **CD** and **DVD** discs, or **Disc Changers**—Store DVD and CD disc information including high-resolution Cover Art, Title, Artist(s), Genre, and more.
- **Digital media**—Store digital audio (AIFF, FLAC, MP3, M4A, OGG, WAV, and WMA file types) and digital video (AVI, DVD, DIVX, ISO, MKV, MPG, MP4, MOV, and WMV file types) media information including high-resolution Cover Art, Title, Artist(s), Genre, and more. Digital media files can be stored on USB or eSATA drives attached to a controller or on a network file storage location.

Broadcast media

Broadcast media refers to radio stations (AM/FM and XM/Sirius) and TV stations (over the air, satellite and cable).

Media types supported:

- **Satellite TV**—Store satellite TV channel information (DirecTV, Dish, and others) including high-resolution channel logo, channel number, description, and genre
- **Cable TV**—Store cable TV channel information including high-resolution channel logo, channel number, description, and genre
- UHF/VHF—Store UHF/VHF (over-the-air TV) channel information including highresolution channel logo, channel number, description, and genre
- **AM/FM/XM**—Store AM, FM, and XM radio station information including highresolution station logo, station number, description, and genre

Playlists

With Composer ME you can create and manage playlists created from your digital media files. See *Setting up playlists* in this document.

Adding digital media files to your Control4 system

Before you can view and select your media from the Control4 Navigators, your media must be added into your system. Composer ME can assist you in adding digital media files to a desired storage location on a Network File Storage or USB/eSATA drive connected to your controller. Your Control4 system can scan the media files to import existing metadata, if present in the media files, and perform an online search to find relevant media information. You first need to add and scan your media using the Composer ME Media view.

File Media Help		
Media	Media Scanning	
Media Media Scored Genetic Mass Storage RESTORE_224 Genetic Mass Storage RESTORE_224 Genetic Mass Storage RESTORE_224	Storage Space Status	
	Used Space for Media Graphice - 1 / 1000 MB Total Used Space (All Data) - 2063 / 5920 MB 8520 MB	
- 🐌 internet Radio 3 Playlists	5520 MB NOTE: Exceeding the insoimum storage values listed above could lead to problems with system updates and project modifications.]
	Options	
Medu	Scarma Schedule Sterry Scarma Schedule Scarma Schedule Scarma Schedule Scarma Schedule Scarma Scarma Schedule Res To Scan Devices Generic Mass Scrage RESTOR Res To Scan Generic Mass Scrage RESTOR Res To Scan Devices Generic Mass Scrage RESTOR Res To Scan Bettor Res To Res To Res To Bettor Res To Res	
rector Status: Idle		Connected to 192,168.1.3 (SSL)

Prerequisites

Before you can add digital media files to a storage location, the storage location must be configured and accessible to your Control4 system. Ensure that the appropriate devices have been added to your Control4 system and are connected to the network or the controller. Contact your dealer or installer for details.

To add and scan digital audio media files:

- 1 In the *Media* list on the left, select the storage location. If the storage device is using the Network File Storage driver, select **Audio Media** under the Network File Storage.
- 2 In the right pane, click Add.

Tip: If you get a dialog box that states you cannot add media, contact your dealer or installer to configure the storage location.

3 Browse to the folder that contains the files that you want to add. Select the folder and click **OK**.

Composer ME will copy the media files to the storage location. After the files have been added, the scan automatically starts. In a few moments, the media is scanned and you will see a list of albums appear. You might see the on-screen Navigator update during this process also.

Tip: Another way to add files to a network storage location, is to go to the Windows Start menu, and select Run. Type \\<network storage location's IP Address>\, press Enter, navigate to the desired folder, and copy the files into this folder. After copying files directly to your storage location, you need to start a scan manually. See "Auto-scan media in Composer ME."

- 4 Refresh your Navigators.
- **5** The media is now selectable for viewing from the touch screens, Control4 apps, on-screen Navigators, and System Remote Controls.

To add and scan digital video media files:

- You must add digital video media files to your storage location manually. You can copy them to your eSATA drive, if connected to your computer, or copy them to your network storage location. To add files to a network storage location, go to the Windows Start menu, and select Run. Type \\<network storage location's IP Address>\, press Enter, navigate to the desired folder, and copy the files.
- 2 In the *Media* list on the left, select the storage location, and select Video Media.
- **3** In the right pane, click **Scan**. See "Scanning media in Composer ME" for more details.

Composer ME will scan the digital video files from the selected storage location. In a few moments, the media is scanned and you will see a list of videos appear. You might see the on-screen Navigator update during this process also.

Tip: To play back digital video files, a media player capable of playing those files and communicating with your Control4 system must be added to the project. Contact your dealer for more information.

- 4 Refresh your Navigators.
- **5** The media is now selectable for viewing from the touch screens, Control4 apps, on-screen Navigators, and System Remote Controls.

Setting up playlists

Use Composer ME *Media* view to set up playlists that will play songs and albums from your touch screens, Control4 apps, On-Screen Navigators, and System Remote Controls.

Prerequisites

Ensure that the appropriate audio devices are added and identified on the Control4 system. Ensure that you have scanned your media. Your dealer or installer can help you do this.

Note: Playlists are limited to 500 songs total.

To create a playlist:

- 1 From the Media menu, select New Playlist.
- 2 A new playlist appears. You can rename it now, or later; you can right-click and select **Rename Playlist** to change the name. **Example**: Change **New** to **Frank's Playlist**.
- **3** Select your file storage location, find the desired albums or tracks, and drag the songs to the playlist. Songs or albums will display in the playlist in the order they are added.

4 Select and play songs from your playlists using your touch screens, Control4 apps, or on-screen Navigators. See *Control4 System User Guide* for details.

To delete albums or songs from the playlist:

- 1 After you add the albums, select the playlist that contains the songs you wish to delete.
- 2 Right-click on the songs you wish to remove, and select Delete.

Tip: To remove multiple songs, press **Shift**, select the songs, and then right-click **Delete**.

Setting up media on a CD or disc changer

To allow you to launch a disc easily, you can scan the discs in a CD or disc changer to store the media information in the media database. This lets you view the discs from your touch screens, on-screen Navigators, Control4 apps, and System Remote Controls and launch them automatically by simply selecting the cover art or name of the disc.

In the Media pane, if you select **CD** or **Disc Changer**, the following options are available. In some cases, you select an entry and click a button, or just click one of these buttons (Search and Scan):

- Edit—Edit an entry's metadata (Title, Artist, Director, Genre, etc.)
- New DVD-Add new DVD information to the media database
- New CD-Add new CD information to the media database
- Delete-Delete an existing entry
- **Scan**—Scan the media on your CD or disc changer to import the information to the media database (recommended if available)
- Search–Search for media titles on your CD or disc changer in the media database



Use the following steps to add media information from CD or disc changers to the media database.

Prerequisites

Ensure that the CD or disc changer has been added and identified to the Control4 system. Your dealer or installer can do this for you.

To automatically scan discs on a CD or disc changer and add to the media database:

- 1 Select the **CD or disc changer** in the *Media* pane.
- 2 In the *Disc Changer* pane (right pane), click **Scan**.
- **3** The scan results appear in the *Discs* pane.
- 4 Under the *File* menu, click **Refresh Navigators** to populate the Control4 Navigators with the media found in the scan, and you are ready to play music or videos.

To add and search using the Search option (useful when manually adding multiple discs at a time):

- 1 In the *Disc Changer* pane, click **Search**. The search dialog appears.
- 2 Type the DVD name in the blank box. For example, type 'A Beautiful Mind,' and then click **Search**. The DVD Title matches appear in the Search Results window.
- 3 Use the scrollbar if necessary to find the appropriate DVD title.
- 4 Select the DVD title, drag it directly over the empty line item in the disc changer list, and then select it.
- 5 Click Finished.
- 6 Repeat the previous steps for the DVDs/CDs in the disc changer that you want to add to the media database.
- 7 Refresh your Navigators. The media you added is now available to view in the Navigators.

To add and search using the New DVD or New CD options (useful when adding a single disc):

- 1 Select CD or Disc Changer in the Media pane.
- 2 Select an empty line item so the *New DVD* and *New CD* buttons appear.
- 3 Click either New DVD or New CD as appropriate.
- 4 The New Movie or New Album dialog appears. In the Title box, enter the DVD you want to play, for example: 'A Beautiful Mind.'
- 5 Click Search.

New DVD:

Title:		
		Search
Director:		Run Time:
Studio:		Released:
Genre:		Rating:
Location 1	¢	
Art		
		Find Art File
	No Artwork Available	Paste From Clipboard
		Remove Art

The following results appear:

A Beautiful Mind	tle ~	Search			
Search Results					
Title	Genre	Released Date	Rating	Director	
40,000	Romance	2002	12	Ron Howard	
A Beautiful Mind	Romance	2002	12	Ron Howard	
A Beautiful Mind	Romance	2002	PG-13	Ron Howard	
A Beautiful Mind	Romance	2002	т	Ron Howard	
A Beautiful Mind	Romance	2002	12	Ron Howard	
A Beautiful Mind	Romance	2001	PG-13		
٢					>

Select an entry to get detailed results:

ch					×
🗹 Title			🗹 Art	✓ Cast	
A Beautiful Mir	nd		RUSSILL CHOME ID HARAS	Russell Crowe; Jennifer Connelly; Paul Bettany; Adam Goldberg; Judd Hirsch; Josh & Lucas; Anthony Rapp;	\sim
Director			A BEAUTIFUL MIND	Christopher Plummer; Ed Harris	
Ron Howard					
Studio:			h. No in		
Universal Pictu	ures / Drea	amworks Pictures / Imagir			
Genre					
Romance					
Run Time:		Released:	Rating:		
135		2002	PG-13		\sim
Synopsis					
by his longtime pa brilliant mathemati	rtner, Acad cian John idemy Awa	demy Award winner Brian Nash, on the brink of inter	Grazer. A BEAUTIFUL MI mational acclaim when he	Irrected by Academy Award winner Ron Howard and produce: IND stars Russell Crowe in an astonishing performance as e becomes entangled in a mysterious conspiracy. Now only his werful story of courage, passion, and triumph.	
L					
grace				< Back Finished Ca	ancel
<u> </u>					

New CD:

Similar results occur as with the New DVD option. Follow the same steps.

New Albu	un	×
Album	Tracks Notes	
Nar	ne:	Search
Arti	st	
Lab	el:	Year:
Ger	ire:	
Art		
		Find Art File
	No Artwork Available	Paste From Clipboard
		Remove Art
		OK Cancel

6 When the Search dialog appears, use the scrollbar if necessary to find the appropriate cover art, and highlight it.

You can change the search criteria, and search again if necessary. The possible matches from the web database appear in the Search Results window (see above).

- 7 Click **Next**. You can choose which information to import, and edit any associated information before adding the media to the media database (see screen above).
- 8 Click Finished.
- 9 Click OK.
- **10** Refresh your Navigators. The DVD is available to view in the *Discs* pane and on the touch screens, Control4 apps, and on-screen Navigators.

To edit CD or album information:

- 1 In the *Media* view, double-click the device on which you want to edit a CD or an album—for example, a CD changer, disc changer, controller, or file storage location.
- 2 Click the Edit button, or double-click the CD or album in the right pane.
- **3** To edit and enter any changes, click the **Album** tab (for music), for example. Edit the information in the boxes under Name, Artist, Label, or Genre.
 - Click the Tracks and Notes tabs to view and edit Track Titles and Notes.
 - Click Find Art File or Remove Art to change the cover art.
- 4 When you are finished, click OK.
- 5 Click one of the **Search** buttons next to the *Name* to search the database for similar entries.
- 6 To select a search result, select the album Title and double-click, or click Next.
- 7 At the next screen, view and edit the album information, including Name, Artist/Composer, Label, Genre, Year, Art, and Notes.
- 8 Make your changes, and click **Finished**. To return to the previous screens, click **Back**.

To edit DVD information:

- 1 In the *Media* view, select the disc changer or DVD, and then select a movie.
- 2 Click the **Edit** button, or double-click the title under **Discs**.
- **3** Click the **Movie** tab. Edit the Title, Director, Studio, Genre, Run Time, Release date, and Rating as desired.
- 4 Click the **Cast** and **Synopsis** tab. Click in the **Cast** and **Synopsis** boxes to make the desired changes.
- 5 Click the **Movie** tab.
- 6 Click **Search** to search the database for other DVDs.
- 7 Double-click the desired **DVD**, and edit the information as desired according to the previous steps.
- 8 When you are finished, click Finished.

Auto-scan media in Composer ME

Notes:

- If you scan a DVD or CD, and the media is not recognized, it will be titled "unknown." You can edit the DVD or CD's metadata and manually provide this information from Composer ME.
- Because media scanning has been moved to the background, the scanning status is only available through Director status messages. To see the scanning status, you can either watch the Director status line or re-select the media to view the content that has been scanned.

Prerequisites

Ensure that the devices you want to scan have been added and identified to the Control4 system. Your dealer or installer can do this for you.

To schedule a regular scan of media:

- 1 From the Composer ME main screen, select **Media Scanning Options**. To scan your media now (and not set up a scheduled scan), click **Scan Now** and skip the Scanning Schedule in Step 2.
- 2 In the *Options* pane, set the schedule as follows:
 - Scanning Schedule—Select one:
 - **Never**—Select if you never want to schedule an automatic scan.
 - **Every** *x* **Days or Weeks** (up to 10)—Select the frequency to scan.
 - On the following days—Select Sunday through Saturday.
 - At <time>—Use the up and down arrows to select the time. Highlight AM or PM and type the value: AM or PM.
 - Files To Scan-Select a device and extension.
 - **Network File Storage**—Select if you have a NAS (network attached storage) device you want to scan.
 - **USB Drive**—The manufacturer's USB drive appears here. Select if you have a USB drive you want to scan.
 - Extensions—Use the up and down arrows to choose which file types to add or remove. To add a file extension (if it doesn't appear in the list), use the down arrow to select the extension, select Video or Audio, and then click Add. Click Remove to remove that file type from the list.
 - Use Online Media Lookup to improve scan results—Check if you want the scan to access the Internet to search for missing metadata information (title, cover art, genre, tracks, or other information).

Tip: To update existing media with high-resolution cover art after updating your system to OS 2.8+, check this box and scan the media files.

• **Remove media from the database if the files no longer exist**—Check to remove database information when a media file has been deleted.

Important: If you disconnect a USB drive with media on it and run a scan with this option selected, the media database entries will be deleted, and you may not want to delete them if you use the drive again.

- Update media database if file tags have changed—Check to have the database updated if the metadata changes.
- 3 Click Apply.
- 4 Click **Scan Now** to start the scan immediately or **Stop Scan** if you've started the scan and want to stop it.

Testing the media connection

To test control of media through the Control4 Navigators (System Remote Controls, on-screen Navigators, Control4 apps, or touch screens), use the steps outlined in the *Control4 System User Guide*.

Suggested test items:

- Play an album
- Add an album or track to the Now Playing queue

- Play a playlist created in Composer
- Create a playlist at a Navigator (for example, one of the touch screens)
- Play multiple streams of music (play different music in different rooms)
 - Play a movie on the television, DVD player, or Blu-ray player

Setting up broadcast media for TV channels

Use Composer ME *Media* view to set up TV, cable, or satellite channels for display in the Navigators.

Prerequisites

Ensure that your television and satellite or cable devices are added and identified in the Control4 system. Your dealer or installer can help you do that.

To set up media for broadcast television channels:

- 1 Highlight UHF/VHF or your satellite or cable TV broadcast media type.
- 2 Click Search.
- 3 When the dialog appears, type your **ZIP code** in the box.
- 4 Click **Search**, and use the pull-down menu to select **Local Broadcast Listings**. The available channels are populated according to the Search Results.
- **5** Check the boxes to select the channels that should appear on the touch screens, Control4 apps, on-screen Navigators, and System Remote Controls.
- 6 Click OK.

	Channel # 4 14 23 23 23	Description 4-30 Channel 4 KULX-HD Channel 14 KBTU-LD6 Channel 23 KBTU-LD5 Channel 23	Genre	Audio Only False False	
KBTU-LD5 KBTU-LD2 KBTU-LD2 KBTU-LD2 KBTU-LD2 KBTU-LD4	4 14 23 23	4-30 Channel 4 KULX-HD Channel 14 KBTU-LD6 Channel 23	Genre	False False	
KULX:HD KBTU-LD6 KBTU-LD5 KBTU-LD2 KBTU-LD2 KBTU-LD4	14 23 23	KULX-HD Channel 14 KBTU-LD6 Channel 23		False	
KBTU-LD6 KBTU-LD5 KBTU-LD2 KBTU-LD2 KBTU-LD4	23 23	KBTU-LD6 Channel 23		1 010 0	
KBTU-LD5	23	10102000000000000			
KBTU-LD2		KBTU-LD5 Channel 23		False	
KBTU-LD4	23			False	
		KBTU-LD2 Channel 23		False	
	23	KBTU-LD4 Channel 23		False	
	23	KBTU-LD7 Channel 23		False	
KBTU-LD3	23	KBTU-LD3 Channel 23		False	
🗌 🥌 KULX-2	14	KULX-2 Channel 14		False	
G 6 KSTUDT2	28	KSTUDT2 Channel 28		False	
L L. KPNZ-DT1	24	KPNZ-DT1 Channel 24		False	
TuffTV	19	TuffTV Channel 19		False	
KPDR-LD1	19	KPDR-LD1 Channel 19		False	
ant KTMW-DT3	20	KTMW-DT3 Channel 20		False	
🗌 🏋 KTMW-DT1	20	KTMW-DT1 Channel 20		False	
	14	LATV Channel 14		False	
Info WiseBuys	19	WiseBuys Channel 19		False	
KBTU-LD1	23	KBTU-LD1 Channel 23		False	
	19	KPDR-I D5 Channel 19		Fales	_

The selected stations populate in the UHF/VHF pane. You can edit the information as needed; add a description, genre, etc.

7 (Optional) To edit a channel, select the channel, and click **Edit**. The following dialog appears.

Media	UHF/VHF						
Media	Channels			Edit	New	Search.	Delete
Meda Scarma Octoons Sared Sared	At Ournel II 4 - 30 Boodcat 4 - 30 Boodcat 4 - 30 Channel I Genere At 4 - 30 Channel I Genere 4 - 30 Channel I Channel	nnei 4	Gerrs Gerrs Audo Orly Gibboard OK Casco	×			

- 8 Edit the information and click OK.
- 9 Refresh your Navigators. The channels can now be selected from the Navigators.

Setting up media for radio stations

Use Composer ME *Media* view to set up radio station listings to display on the Navigators.

Prerequisites

- Ensure that your devices are added and identified in the Control4 system. Your dealer or installer can do that for you.
- Ensure that you have a tuner in the system.

To set up media for radio stations:

- 1 Under *Broadcast*, select the radio type: **AM Radio** or **FM Radio**.
- 2 Click Search.
- 3 When the dialog appears, type your **ZIP Code** in the box.
- 4 Click Search again. Use the pull-down menu to select AM Broadcast Stations or FM Broadcast Stations if applicable. The available stations are populated in the Search Results window.
- 5 Check the boxes to select which stations should appear on the touch screens, onscreen Navigators, Control4 apps, and System Remote Controls for that radio type.

6 Click OK.

Zip: 84020	Search Provi	der: AM Broadcast Stations			
Search Results					
Name	Channel #	Description	Genre	Audio Only	
KALL KALL	700 AM	North Salt Lake City, UT	Sports	True	
KANN	1120 AM	Roy, UT	Christian Conte	True	
KBJA	1640 AM	Sandy, UT	Spanish	True	
KCPW	1010 AM	Tooele, UT	Public Radio	True	
KDYL KDYL	1060 AM	South Salt Lake, UT	Nostalgia	True	
KEYY	1450 AM	Provo, UT	Religious	True	
KFNZ	1320 AM	Salt Lake City, UT	Sports	True	
KHQN	1480 AM	Spanish Fork, UT	Religious	True	
KJQS	1230 AM	Murray, UT	Sports	True	
KKAT	860 AM	Salt Lake City, UT	Country	True	
KLLB	1510 AM	West Jordan, UT	Gospel Music	True	
KLO	1430 AM	Ogden, UT	Talk	True	
KMRI	1550 AM	West Valley City, UT	Religious	True	
KMTI	650 AM	Manti, UT	Country	True	
KNAK	540 AM	Delta, UT	Talk	True	
KNRS	570 AM	Salt Lake City, UT	Talk	True	
KOAL	750 AM	Price, UT	Sports	True	
KOVO	960 AM	Provo, UT	Sports	True	
	1600 AM	Centenville, LIT	Snanieh	Тліе	

The selected stations display in the AM or FM Radio pane.

- 7 (Optional) To edit a station, select the station, and then click Edit.
- 8 Edit the information, and then click **OK**.

Media	AM Ra							
Media	Channels				Edit	Ner	w Search	Delete
Meda Scarney Octoors Served Ser	111 KANN Bron K C C C C C C C C C C	annal II Name OD AM KANN KANN KANN kescription: Data Contemporary At No Artwork Availe	Remove A	board	×			

- 9 Refresh your Navigators.
- **10** Repeat Steps 1-5 for each radio broadcast (AM or FM) you want to set up. Set up each one separately. The stations can now be selected from the Navigators.

Adding photos to the Screen Saver

Use Composer ME *Media* view to add photos to display on the Screen Saver on the Navigators.

Prerequisites

- Ensure that your devices are added and identified in the Control4 system. Your dealer or installer can do that for you.
- Ensure that a storage device (USB drive or network-attached storage) is added and configured in the Control4 system.

Tip: A USB thumb drive can be plugged into the USB port on a Control4 controller to add a storage location for the Screen Saver.

To add photos to the Screen Saver:

1 Under Media, select Screen Saver.



- 2 In the Screen Saver pane, click Add....
- **3** A window appears to allow you to select the image files to add.

← → * ↑ 🛄 > This \$	¢ >		✓ ♥ Search	h This PC 🖉
Organize 🕶				8: • 🖬 🕻
🖌 Quick access	Folders (6)			
o 🧥 OneDrive	Desktop	Documents	Down	loads
> 🛄 This PC				
Seagate Backup Plus	Music	Pictures.	Video	5
🛛 🥏 Network 🔍 🗸	Devices and drives (2)			
	OS (C:)	Seagate Backup Plus Drive (2)	
	32.7 GB free of 226 GB	2.33 TB free of 2.72 TB		
File nam	e		~ All In	nage files(*.bmp;*.gif;*.jpg
				Open Cancel

4 Select the folder containing the image files or select the files separately to add and click **Open**.

After your images are added to the Screen Saver, you can see them listed in the *Screen Saver* pane.

Scree	en Saver			
Kitchen-	>Generic Mass Storage	Configure	Check Resolutions	Delete Add
Photo	Photo Name 20160611_132936 21013865_10155773714084248_403369567245337 21055948_10155773711949248_661094690868835			

You can also manage the photos listed in the Screen Saver using the **Check Resolutions** and **Delete** buttons.

- Check Resolutions will examine the stored photo files in the configured storage location to make sure the files have the correct resolutions to display on the Control4 Navigators.
- **Delete** allows you to remove selected images from the Screen Saver.

Other Composer ME tasks

Use Composer ME to perform other media-related tasks (see the sections below).

- "Clearing a Media List"
- "Exporting a Media List"
- "Importing a Media List"
- "Updating Composer ME"

Clearing a media list

Use Composer ME Media menu to remove media information about albums and songs from the media database.

Prerequisites

Ensure that media has been added and identified to the Control4 system. Your dealer or installer can help you do that.

To clear a media list:

- 1 Select the storage location from which you wish to remove media information. Example: USB drive.
- 2 From the *Media* menu, select **Clear Media List**. This removes media information including the title, cover art, and related information from the media database.

Note: This option does not remove the media files.

Exporting a media list

Use Composer ME *Media* menu to export a list of stored media from your media database to your PC.

Prerequisites

Ensure that the device to export to and the media have been added and identified in the Control4 system. Your dealer or installer can help you do that.

To export the media list:

- 1 Select the **storage location** from which you want to export the media list. **Example**: USB drive.
- 2 From the Media menu, select Export Media List.

This saves a copy of the file that contains all the title art and information from the media database to your PC.

IMPORTANT! This option does *not* move the media files.

Importing a media list

Use Composer ME *Media* menu to import a media list (that was previously exported using Composer ME) from your PC to your media database. You can use this option to restore media information if the media database needs to be repopulated.

Prerequisites

Ensure that the device you are importing to and the media have been added and identified to the Control4 system. Your dealer or installer can help you with that.

To import the media list from your PC to the media database:

- 1 Select the **device** on which you want to import the media list. **Example**: USB drive.
- 2 From the *Media* menu, select Import Media List.

This saves a copy of the file that contains all the title art and information from your PC to your controller's media database.

IMPORTANT! This option does *not* move the media files.

Updating Composer ME

Composer ME should always be updated to match the Control4 system version. If your dealer has updated your Control4 system, you can update Composer ME by downloading the new version. You can find your Control4 system version (Director version) in the **About Composer** dialog under the *Help* menu.

Example: Director version 2.10.0.xxxxx-res means that your Control4 system is running Control4 OS 2.10.0.

To update Composer ME:

- 1 Log in to your account at *customer.control4.com* and go to Software>Downloads.
- 2 Click on **Download Composer Media Edition** and select the Composer Media Edition version that matches your Control4 system.

Composer Media	Edition provides users of a Control4 system the capability to edit the media available within
heir system. This	media includes MP3 files, DVDs, and TV, satellite, cable, and radio stations. Composer Media
Edition should n	ot be used with version 1.2 x Control4 systems.
By downloading thi	s application. I have read and agreed to the End User License Agreement.

3 Open the file after it has downloaded and follow the on-screen instructions to complete the installation.

Glossary

0-9

4Sight: An Internet service that provides a connection to the home automation system any time and from any place worldwide.

Α

AAC: Advanced Audio Coding. A successor to the MP3 format. A standard, lossy compression and encoding scheme for digital audio. Touts better sound quality.

AV: Audio Video

С

CD: (Compact Disc)—An optical disc that stores digital data. This format is compatible with Control4 products.

Composer: The Control4 software used to design and define a Control4 home automation system.

Composer Pro: Composer is used to set up and configure Control4 devices to communicate with each other in a home automation system.

connection: Devices that are bound or linked together in Composer so they can communicate with each other.

contact: Contacts are generally used to monitor the status of something (a door, window, water sensor, etc.) and can be connected through a security panel or directly using a Control4 controller or Contact/Relay Extender. Contacts connected to a Control4 controller or Contact/Relay Extender can be configured either as NC (normally closed) or NO (normally open).

Control4 system: A home automation system designed and developed by Control4.

controller: The main device that makes home automation possible. There may be multiple controllers within a Control4 system. The controller that runs Director is referred to as the Primary controller.

D

device: A component that requires a device driver; code that is used to allow the Control4 system to work with that device.

device driver: Every device in the Control4 system needs a corresponding device driver to control the device.

digital audio player: Provides digital audio streaming capabilities from a controller with hard disk space for music and movies.

Director: Each Control4 controller (such as an EA-5) ships with pre-installed Director software (Linux-based) embedded in the device. The Director communicates with Control4 products and third-party products to enable home automation and interaction of individual devices. Director runs the Control4 devices. Composer Pro is the software used to connect to and program a system Director that resides on a controller.

DVD: (Digital Versatile Disc)—A media format for video and data storage.

Е

Ethernet: Uses Ethernet category 5 (CAT5 or CAT5e) wiring to transfer data. Ethernet uses a star network topology that allows multiple points to communicate to a single point. The Speaker Point' devices and touch screens use Ethernet to communicate to the Control4 controller.

F

file format: A format used by applications to store/read files.

FLAC: Supported by Control4 since software release 1.8, this is a free, open source, lossless audio codec format that supports tagging, cover art and fast seeking. Audio is compressed with no loss in quality.

Н

home network: A network installed in the customer's home that provides an Ethernet or wireless connection so that Control4 devices can communicate with each other.

home automation system: The Control4 system: a line of home automation products that communicate with each other over Ethernet, WiFi, or ZigBee for a total home automation experience.

L

LCD: (Liquid Crystal Display)—A display used with some Control4 interfaces.

LCD Navigator: An LCD device used to control lighting, music, videos, etc., on an LCD screen.

List Navigator: Menu options that are visible on a System Remote Control.

Μ

media database: Media information is stored in the media database, which will permit users to view the media from the Navigators.

metadata: The information that describes the media: title, cover art, artist, song or movie, genre, etc.

MP3: A music format that makes streaming audio available.

MP4: An audio and video format. Can also store images and subtitles.

Ν

Navigator: A Control4 Navigator used with the Control4 system to control lights, music, videos, etc. Navigator is software that the customer interacts with using a universal remote control, On-Screen Navigator, Control4 apps, or touch screen.

network-attached storage (NAS): A hard drive or network share drive that can be attached to the Control4 system and used to retrieve and play music and movies in the system.

0

On-Screen Navigator: Allows you to select the controller (EA-1, EA-3, or EA-5) in the room that controls the source for the on-screen display.

Ρ

playlist: A list of songs compiled in a list. The list can be compiled by songwriter, album, song type, or any combination of the above.

programming: A machine-readable artificial language used to express computations that can be performed by a device.

project tree: A tree view in Composer where the project is layered by the larger branches (Home, Office, etc.) and then the lower branches (floor, rooms, etc.), and finally to the leaf level (drivers).

R

Remote System: Connects you to the home network while working in Composer from a remote location.

S

scan: An electronic read of media for replay on Control4 devices.

switch: An extension of a router that adds more Ethernet ports to support additional devices or clients on the local network.

System Remote Control: A Control4 System Remote Control is a universal solution that replaces remote control devices from other manufacturers, and includes programmable buttons. This System Remote Control can access on-screen (graphical) Navigators.

Т

touch screen: A touch screen is a home automation system Navigator that controls the home's lighting, music, videos, and other devices on the home automation system.

U

USB: (Universal Serial Bus)—A connector format used with USB drives that connect to a USB port on Control4 devices.

V

virtual connection: A term used in Composer Pro to indicate a connection outside the network.

Virtual Director: A connection to a virtual controller only (a PC is the Director host rather than the controller). Projects created or edited here are benign until the saved project is loaded onto a controller.

W

WiFi: Uses bi-directional wireless technology to transfer data. WiFi (wireless fidelity) devices "connect" to each other by transmitting and receiving signals on a specific frequency of the radio band using a wireless access point. This technology uses the star network topology. WiFi uses high bandwidth 802.11.

WMA: (Windows Media Audio)—Audio data compression technology developed at Microsoft; an audio file format that competes with MP3.

Ζ

ZigBee: A wireless network that uses bi-directional wireless mesh network technology to transfer messages from one device to another. Unlike a star network topology where devices can only send messages to each other by sending them first to a single central device (which then delivers the message to the recipient device), a mesh network topology allows the devices to forward messages from one device to another, thereby extending the effective range of the network. 250 devices are allowed per controller but Control4 recommends no more than 125. Uses low bandwidth IEEE 802.15.4 specification.

ZigBee Pro: The 1.1 version of ZigBee that provides improvements in standardization by: allowing more interoperability with other Control4 devices, support for home automation profiles, and improving the scalability of multiple ZigBee access points.

Index

Add Director, 9 Add new CD, 17 Add new DVD, 17 **AIFF, 13** Album tab, 20 AM radio, add, 24, 25 AM/FM, 13 AVI, 13 Broadcast media, 13, 22 Cable TV, 13 CD, 13 add new, 16, 19 edit information, 20 CD changer scan media, 17 clear media list, 10 Composer refresh Navigators, 11 Composer ME interface, 9 update, 28 Connect to Director, 9, 10 Contact information, 2 Copyright, 2 Cover art, find, 20 Create playlist, 15 Delete media, 16 Delete playlist, 11 Delete songs from playlist, 16 Digital audio, 13 digital media, 14 Digital media, 13 DirecTV, 13 Disc changer, 13 Disc Changer pane, 17 Disclaimer. 2 Disconnect from Director, 10 Discs pane, 17 Dish Network, 13 DVD, 13 add new, 16 edit information, 20

DVD, add new, 18 Edit metadata, 16 Exit Composer, 10, 11 Export media list, 11 Export playlists, 11 File extension, add, 21 File menu, 9 Find cover art, 20 **FLAC**, 13 FM radio stations, add, 24, 25 GNU, 2 Gracenote, 2 Hard disk space, 7 Help menu, 9 Home network requirements, 7 Import DVD list from file, 11 Import media list, 11 Import playlists, 11 Installation, 7 Internet connection, 7 ISO, 13 Legal notice, 2 Local broadcast listings, 22 M4A, 13 media database, scanning and adding to, 16 Media list, clear, 27 Media list, export, 27 Media list, import, 28 Media menu, 9 Media pane, 16 Media Scanning, 12 Media scanning, status messages, 21 Media view, 12 Media, remove, 21 Menu options, 9 MKV. 13 Movie tab, 20 Movie, add new, 18 MP3, 13 MP4, 13

MPEG, 2 MPG, 13 Music, add new, 19 Network file storage, 13 Network requirements, 7 New playlist, 11 Playlist, create new, 15 Playlist, delete songs, 16 Purpose of document, 5 radio, 24 Refresh Composer ME, 11 Refresh Director list, 9 Refresh Navigators, 10 Refresh screen, 10 Related documents, 5 Remove media, 21 Rename playlist, 11 Requirements, 6 Scan media, 16 Scan now, 21 Scanning Schedule, 21 USB drive, 21 Screen Saver, 25 Search dialog, 19 Search Results window, 19 Start Composer ME, 8 stop scan, 21 Stored media, 12 TCP/IP, 7 Test media, 22 TV, 22 UHF/VHF, 13, 22 UHF/VHF pane, 23 USB, 14 USB drive scan, 21 Video resolution, 7 WAV, 13 WMA, 13 WMV, 13 XM, 13